IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 87,916

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner, FILED

v.

SID J. WHITE MAY 24 1996

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

1)1

RICHARD VARIANCE,

Respondent.

By \_\_\_\_\_Chief Deputy Olerk

ON PETITON FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI REVIEW

### PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

**ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH** Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

**GEORGINA JIMENEZ-OROSA** Sr. Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 441510

JAMES J. CARNEY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 475246 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd. West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (407) 688-7759

Counsel for Petitioner

FTT, SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Richard Variance was the defendant below and will be referred to as "Respondent." The State will be referred to as "Petitioner." References to the record will be preceded by "R." References to the supplemental record will be preceded by "SR."

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent was charged by information with burglary of a structure (R 186, 201, 204-05).

During preliminary statements to prospective jurors, the trial judge told the prospective jurors that the first cardinal rule in a trial is that they must presume the defendant innocent (SR 18, 19). The second cardinal rule is that the State has the burden of proving the defendant guilty (SR 19). The trial judge also told the jury that the defendant has no burden of proof (SR 19, 25). The defendant is cloaked with a presumption of innocence (SR 20). The trial judge then stated (SR 20-23):

> Now, the third cardinal rule is in order for you, the jury, to find the defendant guilty, the State has the burden of convincing you beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt that the defendant is guilty. That's what is known as standard of proof. That's a landmark concept, that's a bedrock foundation of the American criminal jurisprudence system.

> That is, in order for you to find the defendant guilty, you must be convinced, that is, the State must convince you, quote, beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt, end quote, of the defendant's guilt so that's a very heavy burden and I will give you a more elaborate definition of what that phrase means when I give you the legal instructions at the conclusion of the trial.

> No matter what the charge is, and this is applied in all fifty states of the United States of America, both the state court and federal court, so any time a jury in the United States of America finds the defendant guilty, that means they have been satisfied beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt that the defendant is guilty

and it doesn't make a difference whether that person is convicted of robbery,, [sic] burglary or stealing a six pack of beer, the burden of proof on the State always remains the same and that is to convince the jury beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt of the defendant's guilt.

As I said, I will give more elaborate definitions what that phrase means when I give you the legal instructions at the conclusion of the trial, but suffice it to say that it is a very heavy burden that the State shoulders whenever it charges somebody with committing a crime.

In order to secure a conviction, even though its a very heavy burden the State has, in order to convince the jury the defendant is guilty, the State does not, I repeat, stress, and emphasize, the State does not have to convince the jury to an absolute certainty of the defendant's guilty [sic]. Nothing is 100 percent certain in life other than death and taxes, so the point I am trying to make is that you can still, at the conclusion of the trial, find a doubt as to the defendant's guilt and still find him quilty so long as it's not a reasonable You do not have to be convinced to doubt. 100 percent absolute certainty of the defendant's guilt in order to find him quilty.

A reasonable doubt simply stated is a doubt you can attach a reason to. If at the conclusion of this trial you have a doubt state attorney to Mr. Variance's guilt which you can attach a reason to, then that's a reasonable doubt and you must find the defendant not guilty.

But if at the conclusion of this trial the only kind of doubt you have as to the defendant's guilt, if you have such a doubt, is a possible doubt, a speculative doubt, an imaginary doubt or a forced doubt, that is not a reasonable doubt and if all elements of the crime have been proved to you, you must find the defendant guilty.

Later during voir dire, the trial judge told prospective jurors (SR 29):

The fifth phase of the trial consists of the legal instructions and that's where I give you the law you apply to the evidence in this case. Any preconceived ideas you have as to what the law is, or what the law should be must be disregarded by you. The only law you apply to the evidence in this case is the law that I give you.

At the conclusion of evidence, the trial judge gave the actual sworn jury the complete, approved, standard jury instructions on reasonable doubt (R 149-50):

Whenever you hear the words reasonable doubt you must consider the following:

A reasonable doubt is not a possible doubt, a speculative doubt, an imaginary doubt, or a forced doubt. Such a doubt must not influence you to return a verdict of not guilty if in fact you have an abiding conviction of guilt. On the other hand, if, after carefully considering, comparing, and weighing all the evidence, there is not an abiding conviction of guilt, or, if, having a conviction, it is one which is not stable, but one which waivers and vacillates, then the charge has not been proved beyond a reasonable doubt and you must find the defendant not guilty because the doubt is reasonable.

It is to the evidence introduced upon this trial, and to it alone, that you are to look for that proof.

A reasonable doubt as to the guilt of the defendant may arise from the evidence, lack of evidence, or conflict in the evidence.

The bottom line is if you have a reasonable doubt you should find the defendant not guilty. If you have no reasonable doubt, you should find the defendant guilty. The trial judge also gave the standard instructions on presumption of innocence (R 149-50). The trial judge told the jury that it must follow these instructions (R 153).

Respondent was convicted as charged (R 186, 201, 204-05). The Fourth District reversed, finding the trial judge's unobjected to preliminary statements on reasonable doubt made to prospective jurors to be fundamental error under <u>Jones v. State</u>, 656 So. 2d 489 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>rev. denied</u>, <u>So. 2d</u> (Fla. Nov. 7, 1995). <u>See Variance v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D79 (Fla. 4th DCA Jan. 31, 1996). As in <u>Wilson v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D37 (Fla 4th DCA Dec. 20 , 1995), <u>certified</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D476 (Feb. 21, 1996), <u>jurisdiction accepted</u>, <u>State v.</u> <u>Wilson</u>, No. 87,575 (Fla. March 20, 1996), the Fourth District subsequently certified the following questions as being of great public importance:

> DOES THE JURY INSTRUCTION GIVEN IN THIS CASE IMPERMISSIBLY REDUCE THE REASONABLE DOUBT STANDARD BELOW THE PROTECTIONS OF THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSE?

IF SO, IS SUCH AN INSTRUCTION FUNDAMENTAL ERROR?

<u>See Variance v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D1052 (Fla. 4th DCA May 1, 1996). This Court then granted Petitioner's motion to stay and postponed its decision on jurisdiction.

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Fourth District certified two questions as being of great public importance. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Fla. R. App. 9.030(a)(2)(iv). The issue in this case is whether a trial judge's unobjected to preliminary comments on reasonable doubt constitute fundamental error. This claim has been raised in at least nineteen cases, including:

Brown v. State, Case no. 95-3997 (pending)

<u>David Jones v. State</u>, 656 So. 2d 489 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>rev. denied</u>, \_\_\_\_ So. 2d \_\_\_\_ (Fla. Nov. 7, 1995)(reversed).

<u>Cifuentes v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D77 (Fla. 4th DCA Jan. 3, 1996)(reversed based on <u>Jones</u>).

<u>Frazier v. State</u>, Case No. 94-0600, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D2102 (Fla. 4th DCA Sept. 13, 1995), <u>rev.</u> <u>denied</u>, Case No. 86,543 (Fla. Dec. 19, 1995)(reversed based on <u>Jones</u>).

Jones v. State, Case No. 94-2267, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D1908 (Fla. 4th DCA Aug. 23, 1995), <u>rev. denied</u>, Case no. 86,359 (Fla. Nov. 17, 1995)(reversed based on <u>Jones</u>).

Lusskin v. State, Case No. 95-0721 (pending)

<u>McInnis v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D242 (Fla. Jan. 24, 1996)(reversed based on <u>Jones</u>).

<u>Pierce v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D629 (Fla 4th DCA March 13, 1996) (reversed based on <u>Jones</u>, jurisdiction pending in this Court, Case no. 87,862).

<u>Poole v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D245 (Fla. 4th DCA Jan. 24, 1996) (reversed based on <u>Jones</u>).

<u>Rayfield v. State</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D1907 (Fla. 4th DCA Aug. 23), <u>rev. denied</u>, \_\_\_\_ So. 2d \_\_\_ (Fla. Nov. 17, 1995) (reversed based on <u>Jones</u>).

Reves v. State, Case No. 95-0034 (pending).

Variance v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D79 (Fla. 4th DCA Jan. 31, 1996) (reversed based on <u>Jones</u>).

<u>Wilson v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D37 (Fla. 4th DCA Dec. 20, 1995) (reversed based on <u>Jones</u>, pending in this Court).

<u>Bove v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D709 (Fla. 4th DCA March 20, 1996)(reversed based on <u>Jones</u>, question certified).

Rodriguez v. State, Case no. 95-0749 (pending). Smith v. State, Case no. 95-1636 (pending). Jackson v. State, Case no. 95-3738 (pending).

The trial judge in <u>Jones</u> had been making these preliminary comments for many years. Not surprisingly, this issue is also being raised in post-conviction motions. <u>See e.g.</u>, <u>Tricarico v.</u> <u>State</u>, 629 So. 2d 142 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993)(trial court case no. 91-8232 CF10).

Obviously, some of theses cases may be difficult to retry. A great number of victims are affected by these cases. <u>Smith</u> involves convictions for kidnaping, extortion, impersonating a police officer and burglary. <u>Pierce</u> involves the killing of a young child. <u>Lusskin</u> involves a conviction for solicitation to commit first degree murder. <u>Boye</u> is a first degree murder case. <u>Rodriguez</u> is an attempted first degree murder case. <u>Tricarico</u> is a first degree murder case.

In <u>McInnis</u>, the Fourth District found the comments of a second trial judge to be fundamental error under <u>Jones</u>. In <u>Smith</u>, a *third* judge's comments are being challenged as impermissible under <u>Jones</u>. In <u>Brown</u>, and <u>Jackson</u>, the comments of two more trial judge's are being challenged as fundamental

under <u>Jones</u>. This issue is unquestionably one of great public importance. This Court should accept jurisdiction as it did in <u>Wilson</u> and correct the Fourth District's far-reaching misapplication of the law as soon as possible.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

### <u>I & II</u>

Taken alone, or properly considered with the complete, approved, standard instructions given at the end of trial, the unobjected to preliminary comments on reasonable doubt were an accurate statement of the law. The reasonable doubt standard does not require absolute or one hundred percent certainty. Absolute or one hundred percent certainty is an impossibility. The trial judge's comments were not error, fundamental or otherwise.

### ARGUMENT

### ISSUE I (RESTATED)

THE TRIAL COURT'S UNOBJECTED TO PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON REASONABLE DOUBT, MADE BEFORE THE JURY WAS SELECTED OR SWORN, WERE NOT ERROR.

The Fourth District found the following comments to be

fundamental error (SR 20-23):

Now, the third cardinal rule is in order for you, the jury, to find the defendant guilty, the State has the burden of convincing you <u>beyond and to the exclusion of</u> <u>every reasonable doubt</u> that the defendant is guilty. That's what is known as standard of proof. That's a landmark concept, that's a bedrock foundation of the American criminal jurisprudence system.

That is, in order for you to find the defendant guilty, you must be convinced, that is, <u>the State must convince you, quote</u>, <u>beyond and to the exclusion of every</u> <u>reasonable doubt</u>, end quote, of the defendant's guilt so <u>that's a very heavy</u> <u>burden and I will give you a more elaborate</u> <u>definition of what that phrase means when I</u> <u>give you the legal instructions at the</u> conclusion of the trial.

No matter what the charge is, and this is applied in all fifty states of the United States of America, both the state court and federal court, so any time a jury in the United States of America finds the defendant guilty, that means they have been satisfied <u>beyond and to the exclusion of every</u> <u>reasonable doubt</u> that the defendant is guilty and it doesn't make a difference whether that person is convicted of robbery,, [sic] burglary or stealing a six pack of beer, the burden of proof on the State always remains the same and that is to convince the jury <u>beyond and to the exclusion of every</u> <u>reasonable doubt</u> of the defendant's guilt.

As I said, <u>I will give more elaborate</u>

definitions what that phrase means when I give you the legal instructions at the conclusion of the trial, but suffice it to say that it is a very heavy burden that the State shoulders whenever it charges somebody with committing a crime.

In order to secure a conviction, even though its a very heavy burden the State has, in order to convince the jury the defendant is guilty, the State does not, I repeat, stress, and emphasize, the State does not have to convince the jury to an absolute certainty of the defendant's guilty [sic]. Nothing is 100 percent certain in life other than death and taxes, so the point I am trying to make is that you can still, at the conclusion of the trial, find a doubt as to the defendant's quilt and still find him guilty so long as it's not a reasonable doubt. You do not have to be convinced to 100 percent absolute certainty of the defendant's guilt in order to find him quilty.

A reasonable doubt simply stated is a doubt you can attach a reason to. If at the conclusion of this trial you have a doubt state attorney to Mr. Variance's guilt which you can attach a reason to, then that's a reasonable doubt and you must find the defendant not guilty.

But if at the conclusion of this trial the only kind of doubt you have as to the defendant's guilt, if you have such a doubt, is <u>a possible doubt</u>, a <u>speculative doubt</u>, an <u>imaginary doubt or a forced doubt</u>, that is <u>not a reasonable doubt</u> and if all elements of the crime have been proved to you, you must find the defendant guilty (emphasis supplied).

Initially, Petitioner notes that the "instruction" found to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Because of the wording of the certified questions, Petitioner may refer to the preliminary comments as an instruction. However, Petitioner does not agree that these comments are equivalent to formal instructions given to the sworn jury.

be fundamental error in this case and in <u>Jones v. State</u>, 656 So. 2d 489 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>rev. denied</u>, <u>So. 2d</u> (Fla. Nov. 7, 1995), was a *preliminary* statement made to prospective jurors before a jury was selected or sworn and before any evidence was taken. These potential jurors had no legal duty to heed the preliminary statements made prior to their being sworn as jurors. <u>United States v. Dilg</u>, 700 F.2d 620, 625 (11th Cir. 1983). There is no legal basis to assume that they did follow these statements <u>Id</u>.

Even if these preliminary comments could somehow be considered equivalent to formal instructions to which the later selected and sworn jury was bound, <u>Jones</u> is incorrect. In <u>Jones</u>, the Fourth District held that a preliminary jury "instruction" on reasonable doubt constituted fundamental error because it indicated "absolute" or "one hundred percent" certainty was not required. 656 So. 2d at 490.

The trial judge's comment was an accurate statement of the law. It is undeniable that the reasonable doubt standard does not require absolute or one hundred percent certainty. It is undeniable that absolute or one hundred percent certainty is an impossibility. In fact, if a prospective juror demands one hundred percent proof by the State, that is grounds to strike the prospective juror. <u>See Drew v. State</u>, 743 S.W. 2d 207, 209-10 (Tex.Cr.App. 1987) and cases cited therein (prospective juror properly struck by State where he said he would require "one hundred percent" proof as that level of proof exceeded the

reasonable doubt standard); <u>Ruland v. State</u>, 614 So. 2d 537, 538 (Fla. 3d DCA), <u>rev. denied</u>, 626 So. 2d 207 (Fla. 1993)(same) and <u>United States v. Hannigan</u>, 27 F. 3d 890, 894 (3rd Cir. 1994) n. 3 (reasonable doubt standard does not require 100 percent probability). The trial judge's statement is completely accurate.

Moreover, the trial judge's preliminary comment was balanced. The trial judge repeatedly emphasized that it was a very heavy burden (SR 20, 21). The trial judge stated that a reasonable doubt was a doubt one can attach a reason to, so long as it was not a possible doubt, a speculative doubt, an imaginary doubt, or a forced doubt (SR 22, Petitioner's initial brief p. 11). The latter portion of this statement is taken directly from approved standard instruction on reasonable doubt. <u>See</u> Florida Standard Jury Instruction 2.03. If anything, the language equating reasonable doubt with *any* doubt one can attach a reason to, *overstates* the quantum of proof required. <u>See Victor v.</u> <u>Nebraska</u>, 511 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 114 S. Ct. 1329, 127 L. Ed. 2d 583, 597 (1994)(a reasonable doubt at a minimum, is one based upon reason).

The trial court's comments also repeatedly stressed and emphasized that the proof must be beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt (SR 20, 21, 22, Petitioner's initial brief p. 10). "Reasonable doubt" has a self-evident meaning. <u>See</u> <u>Butler v. State</u>, 646 A. 2d 331, 336 (D.C.App. 1994) (term "reasonable doubt" has self-evident meaning comprehensible to lay

juror). Taken as a whole, the preliminary comment did not understate the burden of proof required. <u>See Victor</u>, 127 L. Ed. 2d at 597, 601 (instructions must be read as a whole).

Additionally, Jones did not mention that as in this case, the complete, approved, standard jury instructions on reasonable doubt were given to the sworn jury at the end of the case. <u>See</u> <u>Esty v. State</u>, 642 So. 2d 1074, 1080 (Fla. 1994)(approving the standard jury instruction on reasonable doubt, citing <u>Victor</u>). The State had been arguing in the many cases affected by <u>Jones</u>, that the Fourth District overlooked the fact that the complete, approved, standard instructions were given. However, subsequent cases make it clear that the Fourth District did not overlook that fact, it simply refused to consider the "balancing effect" of the standard instructions because they were not given until the end of the case:

> In addition, as in <u>Jones</u>, <u>there were no</u> <u>proper balancing instructions</u>. In both cases, the instructions were given to the venire, and <u>the standard instructions were</u> <u>not given until the jury was being instructed</u> <u>before retiring</u>. Without these balancing instructions, the error was fundamental.

<u>McInnis v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D242, D243 (Fla. 4th DCA Jan. 24, 1996)(emphasis supplied).

The Fourth District's holding that it would not consider the standard, complete, approved standard jury instructions as "balancing instructions" because they were not given until the end of the case, is directly contrary to rudimentary, blackletter law. In <u>Higginbotham v. State</u>, 19 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla.

#### 1944), this Court held:

It is a recognized rule that a single instruction cannot be considered alone, but must be considered in light of <u>all</u> other instructions bearing upon the subject, and if, when so considered, the law appears to have been fairly presented to the jury, the assignment on the instruction must fail (emphasis supplied).

This elementary principle of law has not changed since <u>Higginbotham</u>. <u>See Austin v. State</u>, 40 So. 2d 896, 897 (Fla. 1949)(same); <u>Batson v. Shelton</u>, 13 So. 2d 453, 456 (Fla. 1943)(same); <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 252 So. 2d 361, 364 (Fla. 1971)(same); <u>Esty v. State</u>, 642 So. 2d 1074, 1080 (Fla. 1994)(same); <u>McCaskill v. State</u>, 344 So. 2d 1276, 1278 (Fla. 1977)(same); <u>Krajewski v. State</u>, 587 So. 2d 1175, 1180 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) and <u>Sloan v. Oliver</u>, 221 So. 2d 435 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969).

Petitioner also notes that the trial judge specifically incorporated by reference the complete, approved, standard instruction on reasonable doubt **while** making the preliminary comments on reasonable doubt (SR 20, 21):

> That is, in order for you to find the defendant guilty, you must be convinced, that is, the State must convince you, quote, beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt, end quote, of the defendant's guilt so that's a very heavy burden and <u>I will give you a more elaborate</u> <u>definition of what that phrase means when I</u> <u>give you the legal instructions at the</u> <u>conclusion of the trial</u>.

\* \* \*

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