ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUN 17 1996

CLERK, SURREME COURT

STATE OF FLORIDA

Petitioner,

VS.

Case No. 87,916

RICHARD VARIANCE,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District

> RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit of Florida

ALLEN J. DeWEESE Assistant Public Defender Attorney for Richard Variance Criminal Justice Building/6th Floor 421 3rd Street West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (407) 355-7600 Florida Bar No. 237000

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

In <u>Woodruff v. State</u>, 31 Fla. 320, 12 So. 653 (1893), this Court, following <u>Lovett</u>, equated proof beyond a reasonable doubt to evidence or testimony that "produces an abiding conviction to a moral certainty of the guilt of the accused [for] there is no reasonable doubt; whatever doubt may co-exist with such a state of proof is not reasonable. 31 Fla. at 337-338, 12 So. at 658. This Court in <u>Woodruff</u> held that it was permissible to use words equivalent to "a moral certainty," and that an instruction could be correct without that phrase if, and conditioned upon, another expression of equivalent terms. Thus, this Court made clear that certainty, of a kind inherent in the nature of human affairs, is required. A proper instruction

must, in substance, be consistent with what has been approved by this Court. Woodruff v. State, 31 Fla. at 337, 12 So. at 658. See also, Thomas v. State, 220 So. 2d 650 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969), holding that proof beyond a reasonable doubt and to "a moral certainty" are interchangeable and synonymous. The District Court below was correct in holding that a trial court's admonition to a jury that it may have doubts and still find the defendant guilty conveys a contrary standard, less than proof to a moral certainty. It authorizes a verdict that carries less than the confidence in a criminal conviction required by the Due Process Clause of both the Florida and United States Constitutions.

POINT II

IF SO, IS THE INSTRUCTION FUNDAMENTAL ERROR?

This question must also be answered in the affirmative.

A. Fundamental error.

This Court in Archer v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S119, S120 (Fla. March 14, 1996), stated the rule that "jury instructions are subject to the contemporaneous objection rule" and that absent an objection at trial an error can be raised on appeal "only if fundamental error occurred." Fundamental error is "error which reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." Id. This Court quoted State v. Delva, 575 So. 2d 643, 644-45 (Fla. 1991), which quoted from Brown v. State, 124 So. 2d 481, 484 (Fla. 1960). In considering whether an instruction attempting to define reasonable doubt is fundamentally erroneous, this Court will affirm when there is "nothing misleading or confusing about the charge." McLeod v. State, 128 Fla. 35, 44, 174 So. 466, 469 (1937).

An instruction that indicates that certainty is not required is misleading and confusing because it permits less than moral certainty in the minds of the jury to support a lawful verdict of guilt. Davis v. State, 90 Fla. 816, 107 So. 245 (1925). If a court decides to instruct that an "absolute metaphysical and demonstrative certainty" is not required, it is misleading to fail to inform the jury that certainty of a moral kind, of the nature inherent in human affairs, is required. Simply put, guilt must be conclusive, and a satisfactory conclusion to a moral certainty is essential. Id.; Asher v. State, 90 Fla. 75, 105 So. 140 (1925).

To determine if a deviation is fundamental, this Court has looked to whether harm could have "reasonably resulted." A misinstruction on reasonable doubt can be deemed fundamental, and is not fundamental only when such substantial harm could not have reasonably resulted. Witherspoon v. State, 76 Fla. 445, 80 So. 61 (1918).

The nature of an instruction tending to mislead a jury about the burden and standard of proof in a criminal trial has been considered by this Court of such importance to the essential

interests of justice that it is considered fundamental. <u>Bennett v. State</u>, 127 Fla. 759, 173 So. 817 (1937). In <u>Bennett</u> this Court stated the rule that when essential rights are deprived or invaded, the appellate court will consider whether a fair trial was denied by the error, 127 Fla. at 762-763, 173 So. at 819:

The record shows that no exception was taken to the instruction when given nor was it assigned as error, but it is argued in the brief. Inasmuch as this charge of the court complained of involved instructions pertaining to the fundamental rights of the defendant who was being tried at that time on a charge of murder in the first degree, a capital offense, we will consider the correctness of the instruction, though it was not excepted to below nor assigned as error. See <u>Gunn v. State</u>, 78 Fla. 599, 83 So. 511.

In the exercise of its power to do so, an appellate court will consider questions not raised or reserved in the trial court when it appears necessary to do so in order to meet the ends of justice or to prevent the invasion or denial of essential rights. The court may, as a matter of grace, in a case involving deprivation of life or liberty, take notice of errors appearing upon the record which deprived the accused of substantial means of enjoying a fair and impartial trial, although no exceptions were preserved, or the question is imperfectly presented.

In <u>Bennett</u>, a trial court instructed a jury that the term reasonable doubt meant "one conformable to reason, a doubt which would satisfy a reasonable person." This Court disapproved it, stating that, taken as an entirety, it "is likely to lead to confusion and is erroneous." This Court said, 127 Fla. at 763, 173 So. at 819:

The first part of the instruction in defining "reasonable doubt" states that by that term "is not meant a mere possible or speculative doubt, but one conformable to reason' (a doubt which would satisfy a reasonable person.") An instruction in the identical language as that here enclosed in brackets was held to be erroneous in the case of <u>Vaughn v. State</u>, 52 Fla. 122, 41 So. 881. In discussing this matter this Court, in the case of <u>Vasquez v. State</u>, 54 Fla. 127, 44 So. 739, 127 A. S. R. 129, said:

For we think it is perfectly clear there is a very great difference between a 'doubt conformable to reason, a doubt which a reasonable man would entertain' and a 'doubt which would satisfy a reasonable man.' It is difficult to conceive how a doubt could ever be satisfying, and because it is not satisfying is the very

reason why a defendant should not be convicted when a reasonable doubt of his guilt exists in the minds of reasonable men.

The instruction here violates the basic nature of the standard of proof as a weighing, an evaluative judgment of the triers of fact leading them to a judgment consistent with the nature of moral affairs. It is not an objective or quantitative amount of proof. It is that which satisfies the jury in a way that leaves them confident, convinced of the correctness of the charge, not simply the amount of evidence.

The judge's attempt here to equate "reasonable doubt" with a doubt to which a reason could be attached is fallacious. A reasonable doubt need not be more than a simple doubt of some kind arising from the evidence in the minds of the jury. It is not an objectified or quantified standard, as the last line of the judge's instruction, also non-standard, states. It is a qualitative, evaluative, standard. In <u>Hampton v. State</u>, 50 Fla. 55, 39 So. 421 (1905), this Court had occasion to consider an admonition that is very similar to the instruction here:

The court charges you that a reasonable doubt is that state of the case which after the comparison and consideration of all the evidence in the case leaves the minds of the jurors in that condition, that they can not say that they feel an abiding conviction, to a moral certainty, of the truth of the charge. (If you have a simple doubt, you are not to acquit, but it must become a reasonable doubt, that is comfortable to reason, which would satisfy a reasonable man, under all the facts and circumstances as testified to in this case.)

This Court said, 50 Fla. at 79, 39 So. at 429:

The last clause of this charge that we have enclosed in parenthesis is erroneous for several reasons. A "simple" doubt, as contradistinguished from an intricate or complicated doubt, may be such a reasonable doubt as would require an acquittal -- indeed every reasonable doubt may be accurately said to be a simple doubt; and it is error to instruct a jury that it must not acquit if it has a simple doubt. The charge is erroneous also because it requires the reasonable doubt that justifies acquittal to be such a doubt "as would satisfy a reasonable man under all the facts and circumstances as testified to in the case." Satisfy the reasonable man of what? Of the fact that his mind was in a state of doubt, or satisfy him of the guilt or innocence of the accused? The charge does not at all tend to elucidate the meaning of the phrase "reasonable doubt," but on the contrary confuses and beclouds the subject, and leaves the minds of the jury mystified and in a more unsatisfied state than they would be in if laboring under a half dozen reasonable doubts. Hall v. State, 31 Fla. 176, text 190, 12 South. Rep. 449; Wood v. State, 31 Fla. 221, 12 South. Rep. 539.

Here, the trial judge departed on another aspect of the standard of proof by shifting the burden of persuasion when it instructed that a reason need be attached to any doubt considered reasonable. See, Mullaney v. Wilbur, 421 U. S. 684, 95 S. Ct. 1881, 44 L. Ed. 2d 508 (1975). This in effect truncates the concept and suggests a test for either specific evidence of innocence or such a high level of doubt that it approaches a lesser "clear and convincing" standard.

In <u>Bryan v. State</u>, 141 Fla. 676, 194 So. 385 (1940), this Court stated that an instruction requiring a doubt to be "founded in reason" would be erroneous. Only when such language of attaching a reason to doubt is fully balanced with the requirement of proof to a moral certainty has this Court allowed a conviction to stand based upon such an instruction. There was no such balancing here. In <u>Bryan</u>, this Court said the following about the jury having to find "reason" to support a conclusion that the proof is not beyond a reasonable doubt, 194 So. at 386:

If the charge had read, "A reasonable doubt is a doubt founded in reason. To be convinced beyond a reasonable doubt you must be so thoroughly convinced that you would act upon the conviction in the transaction of ordinary affairs of life," -- it would have possessed the infirmity complained of. See Lovett v. State, 30 Fla. 142, 11 So. 550, 17 L.R.A. 705.

In <u>Kimball v. State</u>, 134 Fla. 849, 184 So. 847 (1938), this Court distinguished "conformable to reason" and "that would satisfy a reasonable person," finding the latter also erroneous but not so flawed as to be a fundamental error deviation. The important characteristic distinguishing fundamental from simply erroneous may be the inclusion of words signifying certainty, such as "to a moral certainty," as in <u>Kimball</u>. It was this key concept, certainty, that was diminished in the instruction here. It tended toward confusion by equating proof beyond a reasonable doubt with a definite quantum of proof. This Court has disapproved similar expressions that tend to diminish or relax the high level of confidence expected. <u>See also</u>, <u>Hulst v. State</u>, 123 Fla. 315, 166 So. 828 (1936).

Here, the trial judge abandoned both requirements by misstating the standard and then giving a definition that further strayed from moral certainty. This is the kind of fundamental error this Court has ruled will be reviewed directly on an appeal.

The improvised instructions on reasonable doubt now used by other judges of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, and which this Court may soon have occasion to review, show the dangers of such personal admonishments on the law. For example, in <u>Bove v. State</u>, 21 Fla. Law Weekly D709 (Fla. 4th DCA March 20, 1996), another judge from the circuit instructed that "we do not use the scales of justice in a criminal courtroom. There is no proper percentage to begin to figure out when a defendant can properly be found guilty or when he is not guilty." Such a drastic departure devastates any later instruction on reasonable doubt and replaces the burden of proof with an unstructured "whatever feels right." In <u>McInnis v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D934 (Fla. 4th DCA April 17, 1996), the same judge instructed that the state need not prove its case "to perfection or certainty." These examples show the need for this Court to require adherence to the standard instruction on reasonable doubt and to permit the District Court to guard this right as it did here. The danger to the entire system of justice, if judges are permitted to give their own personal views of reasonable doubt to juries, is that there would be different standards of proof in different courtrooms. The place for explanation is closing argument, and even there a proper statement of the law is required.

B. Judicial neutrality.

Petitioner asserts that the error here should not be reviewed as fundamental because the judge was actually "helping" Respondent (pp. 22-23 of brief). Supposedly, the judge was helping rehabilitate potential jurors who would have been excusable for cause because they thought the prosecution's burden was beyond all doubt. However, not only is this theory inconsistent with the plain meaning of the judge's words, but also such jurors would be excused only if they were unable to follow the correct law, not because of some lack of understanding when they arrived for their voir dire. The argument is fallacious and must be rejected.

Petitioner's argument amounts to a concession that the judge was attempting to benefit a party, departing from the cold neutrality and complete impartiality that is necessary to an independent tribunal. This Court should be disturbed by such open disregard for judicial neutrality.

"... [T]he neutrality and impartiality of a judge who presides over the determination of a person's life, liberty, or property" is a "vital necessity." <u>Arnold v. Revels</u>, 113 So. 2d 218 (Fla. 1st DCA 1959). Further, 113 So. at 223:

We know of nothing more vital in the administration of justice in America than that the judge who sits in judgment on the life, liberty, or property of persons before his court be perfectly impartial. We think it a judge's duty not only to harbor no prejudice toward such persons but also to avoid the appearance of such prejudice.

In <u>State ex rel. Davis v. Parks</u>, 141 Fla. 516, 194 So. 613, 615 (1939), this principle was stated by this Court as follows:

This Court is committed to the doctrine that every litigant is entitled to nothing less than the cold neutrality of an impartial judge. It is the duty of Courts to scrupulously guard this right and to refrain from attempting to exercise jurisdiction in any matter where his disqualification to do so is seriously brought in question. The exercise of any other policy tends to discredit the judiciary and shadow the administration of justice.

The trial court's practice here reflects upon the administration of justice by an impartial judiciary. This Court has not equivocated on the issue of impartiality by judicial officials in trial proceedings in this state at any level. <u>Hayslip v. Douglas</u>, 400 So. 2d 553, 557 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981), quoting from the words of Justice Terrell in <u>State ex rel. Davis v. Parks</u>, <u>supra</u>:

It is not enough for a judge to assert that he is free from prejudice. His mien and the reflex from his court room speak louder than he can declaim on this point. If he fails through these avenues to reflect justice and square dealing, his usefulness is destroyed. The attitude of the judge and the atmosphere of the court room should indeed be such that no matter what charge is lodged against a litigant or what cause he is called on to litigate, he can approach the bar with every assurance that he is in a forum where the judicial ermine is everything that it typifies, purity and justice. The guaranty of a fair and impartial trial can mean nothing less than this.

The damage to the principle of judicial neutrality done not only by Petitioner's position but also by the judge's instruction itself is a further strong reason for the error to be reviewed as fundamental.

C. "100 percent."

The trial judge's instruction to the jury here that "nothing is 100 percent certain" went to the heart of Respondent's defense, damaging it so profoundly that it can only be seen as fundamental error. The pivotal state witness used this very term, "not 100 percent." The judge's instruction turned this reasonable doubt to the state's advantage.

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